ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to Newberry County

Honorable G. Thomas Cooper, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

JUN 28 2018

S.C. SUPREME COURT

DERRICK EUGENE VELASQUEZ,

PETITIONER

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2017-001986

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

VICTOR R. SEEGER
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

ISSUE PRESENTED

Whether counsel was ineffective for not stressing to the trial court that private counsel Littlejohn was Petitioner's Sixth Amendment attorney of choice, and that Littlejohn had agreed to represent Petitioner if the judge granted a continuance, since the trial court incorrectly reasoned Petitioner was only attempting to delay his trial, and there is a reasonable likelihood the continuance would have been granted if properly argued?

STATEMENT

During the June 2015 term, the Newberry County Grand Jury indicted Petitioner for Trafficking in Cocaine, 400 grams or more, and Trafficking in Crack Cocaine, between 10 and 28 grams. App. 172 – 173. Petitioner’s trial was held on August 3, 2015 in front of the Honorable Eugene C. Griffith. App. 1. Dale Scott and Taylor Daniel represented the state. Id. Charles Verner represented Petitioner. Id.

Prior to trial, defense counsel made a continuation motion because Petitioner wanted to hire a different attorney, Littlejohn, who was present at the hearing.¹ App. 5, ll. 4 – 13. Judge Griffith denied the continuation motion because after hearing defense counsel’s argument Judge Griffith determined the continuation motion was a delayed tactic and that “this case is ready, [defense counsel] is ready, your client is ready.” App. 156, ll. 1 – 4. Petitioner was forced to proceed with an attorney he did not want representing him. App. 12, ll. 4 – 11. After a jury was impaneled, defense counsel made three suppression motions regarding the alleged illegal searches of Petitioner and a Jackson v. Denno 378 U.S. 368, 84 S. Ct. 1774 (1964) motion to suppress a statement made by Petitioner. App. 29, l. 13 – 30, l. 5. Judge Griffith denied all four motions. App. 27, l. 22 – 28, l. 19; App. 148, l. 11 – 155, l. 9.

After the denial of Petitioner’s pretrial motions, he pled guilty to trafficking crack cocaine, between 10 and 28 grams, as a second offense, and trafficking cocaine 28 to 100 grams, as a second offense. App. 156, ll. 7 – 19. The state recommended 15 years imprisonment. App. 156, ll. 19 – 22.

¹ Undersigned counsel contacted Wayne Floyd, Petitioner’s post-conviction relief counsel, who advised that Mr. Littlejohn was in fact seasoned criminal defense attorney Cam Littlejohn.

Judge Griffith found Petitioner made a, “free, knowingly, and intelligent plea of guilt,” to both offenses. App. 165, ll. 15 – 24. Judge Griffith sentenced Petitioner to 15 years imprisonment on both charges. App. 167, l. 24 – 168, l. 2.

Petitioner filed an application for post-conviction relief. App. 170 – 177; App. 186 – 206. On November 1, 2016, the state filed its return. App. 178 – 181. On April 19, 2017, Petitioner filed an amendment to his PCR application. App. 183 – 184. An evidentiary hearing was held on June 6, 2017 in front of the Honorable Thomas Cooper, Jr. App. 207. Wayne Floyd represented Petitioner. Id. Judah VanSyckel represented the state. Id.

By an order filed on August 24, 2017, Judge Cooper denied Petitioner’s application for post-conviction relief because Petitioner “failed to establish any constitutional violations or deprivations” that would require the Court to grant his application for post-conviction relief, and that Petitioner failed to show how defense counsel’s performance was deficient. App. 282 – 297.

This petition follows.

ARGUMENT

Counsel was ineffective for not stressing to the trial court that private counsel Littlejohn was Petitioner's Sixth Amendment attorney of choice, and that Littlejohn had agreed to represent Petitioner if the judge granted a continuance, since the trial court incorrectly reasoned Petitioner was only attempting to delay his trial, and there is a reasonable likelihood the continuance would have been granted if properly argued.

Relevant Facts

The state alleges the facts as follows: on May 2, 2015, police officers set up a safety traffic checkpoint in Newberry County. App. 160, ll. 11 – 13. Petitioner was a passenger in the backseat of a car that passed through the safety traffic checkpoint. App. 160, ll. 17 – 18. After the car was pulled over, the driver did not provide the police a driver's license. App. 160, ll. 21 – 22. The officers at the checkpoint claimed to smell marijuana as the car pulled up. App. 160, ll. 22 – 23.

The officers took the driver out of the car and questioned her about the smell of marijuana. App. 109, l. 25 – 110, l. 15; App. 160, l. 23. The officers at the checkpoint claimed that Petitioner, who remained in the backseat of the car, presented an ash tray with marijuana in it out the window to Lieutenant Johnson. App. 38, l. 25 – 39, l. 5; App. 160, l. 25 – 161, l. 3. Because the officers claim that Petitioner showed them marijuana, that allowed the police to: take Petitioner out of the car, pat him down, and find a small bag of crack cocaine. App. 161, ll. 2 – 4. The officers arrested Petitioner for simple possession and performed a search incident to the arrest of the car, which produced a larger amount of cocaine from a bookbag under the front passenger seat of the car. App. 112, l. 25 – 114, l. 3.

Defense counsel made three suppression motions regarding the alleged illegal searches of Petitioner and a Jackson v. Denno 378 U.S. 368, 84 S. Ct. 1774 (1964) motion to suppress a statement made by Petitioner. App. 29, l. 13 – 30, l. 5. Petitioner testified during the suppression hearing and provided an alternative recollection of the checkpoint stop.

Petitioner testified that he did not hand Lieutenant Johnson an ashtray with marijuana in it. App. 133, l. 4 – 134, l. 16. He asserted that his first interaction with the officers was when Lieutenant Johnson asked Petitioner for his identification. App. 132, ll. 9 – 13. Then immediately after getting Petitioner’s ID, Johnson, “opened the backdoor and told me to step out and put my hands behind my back.” App. 132, ll. 15 – 17. Johnson then patted Petitioner down. App. 132, ll. 18 – 19. Petitioner testified that, “[A]s soon as I was escorted out of the car I was placed in handcuffs. And Sergeant Babb’s [report] indicates I was placed in handcuffs. I was searched and then Lieutenant Johnson produced the blue ashtray out of the vehicle.” App. 133, ll. 5 – 10. Petitioner further testified that the officers did not ask for consent to search the car and that Petitioner never gave them consent to search the car. App. 134, ll. 13 – 19. Petitioner was never presented with a search warrant for the car or its contents. App. 136, ll. 13 – 15. The also record showed that Petitioner’s car was pulled over; however, the record also showed that other cars were waived on, making the checkpoint suspect under Vickery.² App. 137, ll. 17 – 24.

Defense counsel also made a pretrial motion for a continuance at the request of Petitioner. App. 5, ll. 4 – 5. Defense counsel mentioned that Petitioner would like more time to prepare and is “attempting to retain” Mr. Littlejohn to represent him, but that Petitioner would really, “just like a little bit more time to prepare.” App. 5, ll. 10 – 13. Defense counsel also opined that Petitioner’s case was factually “fairly simple.” App. 5, l. 8. Judge Griffith heard

² State v. Vickery, 399 S.C. 507, 732 S.E.2d 218 (2012)

defense counsel's reasons for requesting the continuance and denied it because the reasons that defense counsel gave when he argued for the continuance made the request appear, "unnecessary," and for the purposes of delay App. 155, ll. 18 – 20; App. 156, ll. 1 – 4. Defense counsel never mentioned that Littlejohn already agreed to represent Petitioner or that Littlejohn was Petitioner's Sixth Amendment counsel of choice. Moreover, defense counsel **never** disputed the Judge's assertion that Petitioner's continuation request was for the purposes of delay.

Judge Griffith denied Petitioner's suppression motions. App. 155, l. 6. He ruled that the justification for the effectiveness of the checkpoint was, "clearly proved by the State." App. 149, ll. 14 – 21. That the police officers did not violate the Fourth Amendment by searching Petitioner's person because they testified to smelling marijuana when the car first pulled up, and one officer testified that the ashtray was given to him by Petitioner. App. 152, ll. 11 – 14. That the police officers did not need to get a warrant to search the private contents of the car because an officer testified to Petitioner trying to conceal the bag in the back under the front passenger seat. App. 152, ll. 15 – 19; App. 152, l. 25 – 153, l. 4. That the police officers did not need to Mirandize Petitioner once they smelled marijuana as the car pulled up to the checkpoint because the police only questioned the driver about the marijuana not Petitioner; therefore, there was no need to Mirandize him before then. App. 153, l. 25; App. 154, ll. 10 – 23.

After the denial of the suppression motions the court recessed until the next day, August 4, 2015, where Petitioner tendered a plea to trafficking crack cocaine between 10 and 28 grams, second offense, and trafficking cocaine between 28 and 100 grams, second offense. App. 156, ll. 7 – 23. The state recommended a sentence of imprisonment for 15 years. App. 156, ll. 19 – 22. The court accepted Petitioner's guilty plea as freely, knowingly and intelligently made and sentenced him to fifteen years' imprisonment. App. 165, ll. 15 – 19; App. 167, l. 24 – 168, l. 2.

Petitioner filed an application for post-conviction relief that alleged ineffective assistance for failure to obtain a continuance because his trial was called abnormally quickly and he wanted to hire a different attorney. App. 170 – 177; App. 183 – 184; App. 186 – 206.

At the post-conviction relief hearing, defense counsel’s testimony indicated disbelief about how quickly Petitioner’s trial was called. “I doubt he would have been called for trial two months later. That sounds more like a roll call. That sounds unlikely that he would have been called to trial two months after his arrest.” App. 211, l. 25 – 212, l. 3. Defense counsel believed that he was prepared for the case, but that it seemed like a, “very quick turn around,” and it was, “quicker than [defense counsel] remembered.” App. 212, l. 25 – 213, l. 3. Defense counsel recollected making the continuation motion at trial at the request of Petitioner. App. 213, ll. 8 – 11.

Petitioner testified at the post-conviction relief hearing that he did not think defense counsel was prepared to try the case. App. 257, ll. 22 – 23. Petitioner maintained his innocence defense at the post-conviction relief hearing and stated,

“I was willing to put everything on the line. But after I was represented, the way I was represented I kind of knew that things were not going to turn out right because after all I was only given 66 business days before I was sent to prison. And I had an attorney who was going to take the case. Verner indicated to the court that he was satisfied and that he was ready to proceed. And I believe that the Judge took that instruction and just moved ahead. But I never wanted Verner to represent me whatsoever. And I was forced by not being given a continuance to have the Judge label [the] request for a change of counsel..., and for a continuance, a delay tactic.

App. 261, l. 14 – 262, l. 2.

Petitioner explained that Littlejohn, Petitioner’s counsel of choice, was present at trial, but could not take Petitioner’s case if a continuance motion was not granted. App. 262, ll. 3 – 9.

PCR counsel asked Petitioner if the court had granted his continuance request would he have hired Littlejohn, to which Petitioner responded, “[A]bsolutely.” App. 262, ll. 10 – 12.

If not for Verner’s representation, Petitioner would have approached the case differently in that he would have, “gotten competent counsel first that would have went through hall of the evidence... I would have attempted to go through the file with this attorney. I never wanted Verner, I told Verner I didn’t want him... So I told him I was going to hire an attorney. So that is what I went to go do but they didn’t give me a continuance so that I could hire Mr. Littlejohn.” App. 264, l. 19 – 265, l. 6.

After the testimony at the post-conviction relief hearing was concluded, PCR counsel further argued some of the points made during the hearing. “I think several deficiencies were noted throughout the testimony. First of all, I think we would all agree this was a very quick trial, from May to July, for a big case, for a case of trafficking in 400 grams. I know of none that have been that quick and maybe Your Honor often has it that quick, I have never known one of these that quick. So there is a question there of whether or not everything was done properly in order to assure continuances long enough for Mr. Verner to get prepared for Mr. Velasquez to retain a private lawyer, as he had a private lawyer there that day.” App. 272, l. 1 – 273, l. 10.

By an order filed on August 24, 2017, Judge Cooper denied Petitioner’s application for post-conviction relief because Petitioner failed to establish any constitutional violations or deprivations that would require the Court to grant his application for post-conviction relief, and that Petitioner failed to show how counsel’s performance was deficient. App. 282 – 297.

That was an error, and it prejudiced Petitioner.

Discussion

The Sixth Amendment protects one's right to choose his own counsel to defend him at trial. "[The Sixth Amendment] commands, not that a trial be fair, but that a particular guarantee of fairness be provided – to wit, that the accused be defended by counsel he believes to be best." United States v. Gonzalez-Lopez, 548 U.S. 140, 146, 126 S. Ct. 2557, 2562 (2006). In this case, Petitioner requested a continuance from the court so that he could exercise his Sixth Amendment right to hire the counsel of his choice. Defense counsel provided ineffective assistance when he failed obtain that continuance because he failed to properly explain the particular reason why Petitioner requested the continuance. Namely, that Petitioner's wanted to exercise his Sixth Amendment right to choose his own counsel.

The South Carolina Rules of Criminal Procedure provide that the presiding judge may grant a continuance based upon "a showing of good and sufficient legal cause." Rule 7(c), SCRCrimP. As such, "[t]he granting of a motion for a continuance is within the sound discretion of the trial court and will not be disturbed absent a clear showing of an abuse of discretion." State v. Yarborough, 363 S.C. 260, 266, 609 S.E.2d 592, 595 (Ct. App. 2005). "An abuse of discretion arises from an error of law or a factual conclusion that is without evidentiary support." State v. Irick, 344 S.C. 460, 464, 545 S.E.2d 282, 284 (2001).

"It is axiomatic that determination of [a motion for continuance] must depend upon the particular facts and circumstances of each case." State v. Meggett, 398 S.C. 516, 523, 728 S.E.2d 492, 496 (Ct. App. 2012) (quoting State v. Babb, 299 S.C. 451, 454-455, 385 S.E.2d 827, 829 (1989)). While "[t]here are no mechanical tests for deciding when a denial of a continuance is so arbitrary as to violate due process," the decision must rest upon, "the circumstances present in

every case, *particularly in the reasons presented to the trial judge at the time the request is denied.*” Ungar v. Sarafite, 376 U.S. 575, 589, 84 S.Ct. 841, 850 (1964). (emphasis added)

In State v. Bailey, 298 S.C. 1, 377 S.E.2d. 581 (1989) this Court held that the trial court did not abuse its discretion when it denied Bailey’s motion for a continuance because two alibi witnesses could not be located prior to the rescheduled trial date. This Court held that, “[B]ecause the appellant was not prevented from using an alibi defense, and since any testimony by additional alibi witnesses would have been cumulative, the trial judge did not abuse his discretion in denying the appellant’s motion for a continuance.” Id. at 5, 377 S.E.2d at 584.

In the instant case, Petitioner requested for a continuance to exercise his Sixth Amendment right to hire the counsel of his choice to represent him. Therefore, his case is distinguishable from Bailey because Bailey had the ability to substitute the missing alibi witnesses’ testimony with the alibi witness testimony that was present at trial. Whereas here, Petitioner did not have an alternative way to exercise his Sixth Amendment right to the counsel of his choice. Moreover, defense counsel did not properly argue that Petitioner requested a continuance to exercise his Sixth Amendment right. Defense counsel never even used the words “Sixth Amendment” when he told the trial court the reasons for the continuation request. Therefore, defense counsel provided ineffective assistance because the continuance request rested, “particularly in the reasons presented to the trial judge at the time,” and defense counsel failed to explain to the judge that the continuance was to allow Petitioner to exercise his Sixth Amendment right to the counsel of his choice, which was the strongest reason for the continuance request to be granted. Ungar v. Sarafite, 376 U.S. 575, 589, 84 S. Ct. 841, 850 (1964).

In U.S. v. Gonzales-Lopez, 548 U.S. 140, 126 S. Ct. 2557 (2006), the Supreme Court held that a defendant has a Sixth Amendment right to the counsel of his choice and that the trial court's erroneous deprivation of that right entitled him to the reversal of his conviction. Gonzales-Lopez, at 152, 126 S. Ct. at 2566. In that case, Gonzales-Lopez's family hired an attorney, John Fahle, to represent him. Id. at 142, 126 S. Ct. at 2560. After the arraignment, Gonzales-Lopez called a different attorney Joseph Low and eventually hired him. Id.

At a subsequent evidentiary hearing before a Magistrate Judge, the Magistrate accepted Low's provisional appearance and permitted him to participate in the hearing. Id. However, at the hearing the Magistrate revoked Low's provisional acceptance on the ground that, by passing notes to Fahle, Low violated a court rule restricting the cross-examination of a witness to one counsel. Id.

The following week, Gonzales-Lopez informed Fahle that he wanted Low to be his only attorney. Id. Low filed for admission *pro hac vice*, but the district court denied his application without comment. Id. Fahle filed a motion to withdraw as counsel and for a show-cause hearing to consider sanctions against Low for violating the Missouri Rule of Professional conduct that prohibits a lawyer from communicating about the subject of the representation with a party... represented by another lawyer. Id.; Mo. Rule of Professional Conduct 4-4.2 (2003). Low filed a motion to strike. Id. The District Court granted Fahle's motion to be relieved and a continuance so Gonzales-Lopez could find new representation. Id. at 143, 126 at S. Ct. at 2560. Gonzales-Lopez retained a local attorney, Karl Dickhaus. Id.

The District Court then denied Low's motion to strike and, "for the first time, explained that it denied Low's motions for admission *pro hac vice* primarily because, in a separate case

before it, Low had violated Rule 4-4.2 by communicating with a represented party. Id. Gonzales-Lopez proceeded to trial with Dickhaus and the jury found him guilty. Id.

Gonzales-Lopez appealed and the Eighth Circuit vacated the conviction. Id. at 143, 126 at S. Ct. at 2561. The Eighth Circuit held that the lower court erred in interpreting Rule 4-4.2 to prohibit Low's conduct and therefore the denial of Low's motion for admission *pro hac vice* was, "erroneous and violated respondent's Sixth Amendment right to paid counsel of his choosing." Id. at 143 – 144, 126 at S. Ct. at 2561. The Supreme Court affirmed the Eighth Circuit's decision and held in Gonzales-Lopez, that:

[W]here the right to be assisted by counsel of one's choice is wrongly denied, therefore, it is unnecessary to conduct an ineffectiveness or prejudice inquiry to establish a Sixth Amendment violation. *Deprivation of the right is "complete" when the defendant is erroneously prevented from being represented by the lawyer he wants, regardless of the quality of the representation he received.* To argue otherwise is to confuse the right to counsel of choice—which is the right to a particular lawyer regardless of comparative effectiveness—with the right to effective counsel—which imposes a baseline requirement of competence on whatever lawyer is chosen or appointed.

Id., at 148, 126 S. Ct. at 2563. (emphasis added)

In the instant case, defense counsel provided ineffective assistance when he failed to properly argue Petitioner's continuation motion and obtain a continuance. Defense counsel never mentioned that Littlejohn already agreed to represent Petitioner or that Littlejohn was Petitioner's Sixth Amendment counsel of choice. Moreover, defense counsel **never** disputed the Judge's assertion that Petitioner's continuation request was for the purposes of delay. That failure resulted in the deprivation of Petitioner's Sixth Amendment right to the counsel of his choice.