RECEIVED
DEC 14 2018
S.C. SUPREME COURT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

CERTIORARI TO NEWBERRY COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
The Honorable G. Thomas Cooper, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2017-001986

DERRICK EUGENE VELASQUEZ,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

Respondent.

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

JANELL H. GREGORY
Assistant Attorney General
SC Bar No. 103176

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

The post-conviction relief court properly determined Counsel was not constitutionally ineffective for failing to obtain a continuance in Petitioner's case to allow for substitution of counsel where Counsel moved for a continuance twice on Petitioner's behalf and the trial court, in its discretion, properly denied both motions as the State and Counsel were prepared to go forward and the Court believed Petitioner was attempting to create an unnecessary delay in his case.

Petitioner's allegation that Counsel was constitutionally ineffective because he failed to obtain a continuance in his case so he could hire another attorney is meritless. Counsel requested a continuance from the court on two occasions prior to Petitioner pleading guilty. During his first motion, Counsel stated the continuance was necessary because Petitioner would like more time to prepare the case, new photographs were just provided to Counsel, and Petitioner was attempting to hire another attorney. The court decided to hold the continuance in abeyance until after jury selection and pretrial motions were held. Following the denial of Petitioner's suppression motions, Counsel again moved for a continuance. The court denied the motion believing Petitioner was attempting to create an unnecessary delay in his case. Counsel cannot be found deficient for failing to obtain a continuance as the granting of such motion is solely within the court's discretion. The post-conviction relief court properly found Counsel was not constitutionally ineffective in this case because Counsel moved for continuances twice on Petitioner's behalf and the court, exercising its discretion, denied both motions. The denial of those motions is not a reflection of a deficiency on Counsel's part, but rather the court's belief the continuances were unnecessary. The post-conviction relief court properly denied relief to Petitioner on this ground and this Court should deny certiorari.

Although Petitioner believes he should have been granted a continuance, the plea court properly exercised its discretion in denying both continuance motions. "The denial of a motion for a continuance is within the sound discretion of the trial judge and his ruling will not be

disturbed on appeal absent an abuse of discretion resulting in prejudice to the appellant.” Bozeman v. State, 307 S.C. 172, 414 S.E.2d 144 (1992) (citing State v. Babb, 299 S.C. 451385 S.E.2d 827 (1989)). “A trial judge’s denial of a motion for continuance will not be disturbed absent a clear abuse of discretion.” State v. McMillian, 349 S.C. 17, 21, 561 S.E.2d 602, 604 (2002). This Court has previously held, “reversals of refusal of continuance are about as rare as the proverbial hens’ teeth.” State v. Lytchfield, 230 S.C. 405, 409, 95 S.E.2d 857, 859 (1957).

The instant case is analogous to the issue this Court heard in Bozeman. Anthony Bozeman, the petitioner, (“Bozeman”) was arrested for murder in March 1988. Bozeman, 307 S.C. at 174, 414 S.E.2d at 145. A public defender was appointed to represent Bozeman, however, private counsel told Bozeman’s sister he would represent Bozeman if a continuance in the case was granted. Id. Bozeman refused to cooperate with his public defender because he believed he had retained private counsel, however, private counsel never spoke to Bozeman. Id. The public defender made a motion for continuance on the ground that Bozeman believed he had hired private counsel and had refused to cooperate with the public defender. Id. The trial judge denied the motion and Bozeman was represented by the public defender at trial. Id. Bozeman was convicted of the lesser included offense of voluntary manslaughter. Id.

On appeal, Bozeman claimed the trial judge erred in denying his motion for a continuance and the denial of such motion prejudiced him as he was not able to retain private counsel and adequately prepare for trial. Id. This Court held,

[T]he denial of a motion for a continuance did not deny the defendant his right to counsel when defendant was represented by appoint counsel and sought the continuance to obtain other counsel of his choice. Here, counsel was appointed three days after [Bozeman’s] arrest and represented [Bozeman] at the preliminary hearing. [Bozeman’s] right to counsel was not denied at any stage of the proceeding.

Id. at 175, (citing State v. Bennett, 259 S.C. 50, 190 S.E.2d 497 (1972)).

Here, much like in Bozeman, Petitioner asserts his was prejudiced by the denial of the continuance because he was unable to hire the counsel of his choice to represent him. However, Counsel competently represented Petitioner from the beginning of his case and, unlike Bozeman, Petitioner here actually participated in the preparation of his trial. During the post-conviction relief hearing, Counsel testified Petitioner was a “high intensity client” that was “labor intensive.” (App. 216.) Like Bozeman, Petitioner here has failed to show how the outcome of his case would have been different had private counsel represented him at trial. Petitioner testified, “But I don’t think I would have been given 15 years had I had adequate representation.” (App. 267.) However, Petitioner has failed to show what additional witnesses or evidence private counsel could have produced in this matter had the continuance been granted.

Additionally, Counsel indicated Petitioner had received a continuance in July on his case from the Honorable Donald B. Hocker. Counsel also clearly stated to the plea court Petitioner’s case was factually fairly simple. (App. 5.) Although Petitioner believed he needed more time to prepare for trial and to go over new photographs Counsel received, Counsel told the plea court the new photographs “don’t really help me with the case-in-chief. It will be cumulative to what I have already seen in other evidence.” (App. 5.) Counsel went on to tell the plea court the State had complied with discovery and, the only issue Counsel had was the lack of empirical data provided by the State, which the court found to be a legal issue and not an appropriate basis for a continuance. (App. 6.) Petitioner was given the opportunity to address the plea court regarding his continuance motion and he stated, “[W]e just been provided with new information that we need to go over and we haven’t been provided with all of the empirical data. We haven’t been provided the names of whoever submitted the empirical data.” (App. 8.) At no time while

addressing the plea court did Petitioner mention he wanted new counsel or was in the process of hiring private counsel to substantiate his need for the continuance. (App. 8.) The plea court held the continuance in abeyance since Counsel and the State were prepared to go forward because, at that time, Counsel had received full discovery from the State, and the “new information” Petitioner claimed he needed more time with were cumulative photographs Counsel felt were immaterial to their case.

After picking a jury, the plea court held pretrial hearings on numerous suppression motions raised by Counsel. After lengthy testimony, the plea court denied all of Petitioner’s suppression motions and Counsel again moved for a continuance on Petitioner’s behalf. (App. 155-156.) The plea court denied the motion stating, “changing lawyers right before trial is a delayed tactic in some cases and this case is ready, you are ready, your client is ready, we will go forward[.]” (App. 156.) Counsel testified at the post-conviction relief hearing that he had enough time to accurately investigate and prepare Petitioner’s case for trial. (App. 212.)

Petitioner relies on United States v. Gonzales-Lopez, 548 U.S. 140 (2006), to support his argument Petitioner was denied his Sixth Amendment right to counsel by the plea court’s refusal to grant a continuance. However, Gonzales-Lopez is distinguishable from Petitioner’s case because, in Gonzales-Lopez, the Petitioner had formally retained his preferred counsel (“Low”) prior to the start of his trial. Also, the government conceded the petitioner’s Sixth Amendment right was violated because Low was erroneously disqualified from *pro hac vice* admission by the trial court. Id. at 145.

Here, the attorney Petitioner claimed he wanted to retain was never formally hired, despite Petitioner being granted a continuance by Judge Hocker earlier in his case. The plea court did not disqualify any attorney from representing Petitioner, nor did the plea court prevent

Petitioner from securing an attorney of his choice at any time since his arrest; Petitioner just failed to act. Petitioner's case proceeded with competent counsel and, during the plea colloquy, Petitioner testified he was satisfied with Counsel and had enough time with Counsel to discuss his case and plea. (App. 164-165.) Petitioner also failed to have the attorney he claims he wanted to retain testify on his behalf during the post-conviction relief hearing to show efforts were being made to secure his representation. The plea court's denial of Petitioner's continuances were based on the belief Petitioner was delaying his proceedings, not attempting to retain private counsel, which Petitioner's actions do not refute.

The plea court here, much like the trial court in Bowman, properly exercised its discretion in denying Petitioner's motions for continuance as the motions were not based on actual necessity. Petitioner was an active participant in the preparation for his trial, and the "new information" Petitioner believed he needed more time to review were photographs that were inconsequential to his case. Petitioner has failed to show how he was prejudiced by the plea court's decision since all Petitioner provided during the post-conviction relief hearing was his testimony that under "adequate representation" he believed he would be serving less time. However, he has offered no evidence to substantiate this claim. Petitioner has failed to show how he was prejudiced by Counsel's representation and has therefore failed to meet his burden under Strickland. The post-conviction relief court properly denied Petitioner relief on this claim and this Court should deny certiorari.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the petition for a writ of certiorari should be denied. Should this Court grant the petition for writ of certiorari, Respondent requests permission to more fully brief the issues herein.